5

RECEIVED
MAY 12 2015
SC COURT OF APPEALS

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BERKELEY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

J. C. Nicholson, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Trial Case Nos. 2009-CP-08-1068, 2009-CP-08-3916,
2009-CP-08-1413, 2008-CP-08-2714
Appellate Case No. 2014-002390

THE OAKS AT RIVERS EDGE PROPERTY OWNERS ASSOCIATION, INC.,
JOHN E. ATKINSON, JOAN D. STRANDQUIST, JOSEPH E. CHIOVAROU,
JR., PEYTON H. COOK, JR., BRENDA COOK, JOHN W. EDELEN, KAREN
A. NELSON, ROBERT J. GRAHAM, MAUREEN S. GRAHAM, NANCY K.
JOHNSON as trustee for the Nancy K. Johnson Revocable Trust, WILLIAM
JUNG, CHARLES MARAZITI, PATRICIA MARAZITI, GEORGE S.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

- (1) Did the trial court err in awarding damages to the POA and Unit Owners when it failed to set-off the damages awarded by the settlement amounts previously received by the POA and Unit Owners from the settling defendants prior to trial and the evidence presented at trial established the damages were for items which were the responsibility of the settling defendants, thereby resulting in a double recovery to the POA and Unit Owners?
- (2) Did the trial court err in finding CHAC and DIRD liable for \$15,743,753.79 in total damages when the evidence at trial demonstrated CHAC and DIRD were not responsible for all of the claimed construction defects and the damages should have been apportioned among the settling defendants and CHAC and DIRD?
- (3) Did the trial court err in awarding damages for loss of market access to the Unit Owners, when such damages were speculative and not supported by evidence at trial, in addition to awarding damages for cost of repair to the POA, without forcing the Unit Owners to elect their remedies, thereby resulting in a double recovery in favor of the Unit Owners?
- (4) Did the trial court err in awarding damages to the Unit Owners for loss of value in addition to damages for loss of quiet enjoyment when loss of quiet enjoyment is included in the damages for loss of value and most of the Unit Owners did not reside in their respective units and did not actually suffer any loss of quiet enjoyment or inconvenience?
- (5) Did the trial court err in awarding damages for acoustic repairs/sound remediation when the evidence at trial established that CHAC and DIRD's remediation not only met but exceeded the industry standard and the POA and Unit Owners' proposed sound remediation would not improve the acoustical/sound issues from its current state?
- (6) Did the trial court err in awarding damages for the cost to remove and replace the stucco and brick as well as storage costs when such damages were excessive, not supported by the evidence, and most of the Unit Owners did not reside in their respective Units?

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The matter before this Court arises from a defective construction lawsuit and is therefore a matter of law. The case was tried before a judge without a jury; this Court's scope of review is limited to correction of errors of law, and factual findings are reviewed for any evidence which supports the trial court's finding. See Townes Associates, Ltd. v. City of Greenville, 266 S.C. 81, 86, 221 S.E.2d 773, 775 (1976) ("In an action at law, on appeal of a case tried without a jury, the findings of fact of the judge will not be disturbed upon appeal unless found to be without evidence which reasonably supports the judge's findings."); Myers v. Nat'l Sales Ins. Co., 362 S.C. 41, 44, 606 S.E.2d 486, 488 (Ct. App. 2004); Osterneck v. Osterneck, 374 S.C. 573, 577, 649 S.E.2d 127, 129 (Ct. App. 2007) ("In a law case tried by the judge without a jury the standard of appellate review is limited to a correction of errors of law and a determination if there is any evidence to support the factual findings of the trial judge.").

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter arises from a series of cases filed in Berkeley County, South Carolina relating to the construction of condominium units known as the Oaks at Rivers Edge (the "Oaks") located on Daniel Island. Numerous lawsuits were filed with regard to the matter. On January 12, 2007, A.C. Construction, Inc., ("AC") brought suit (CA No. 2007-CP-08-00101) against Daniel Island Riverside Developers, LLC, ("DIRD") and Travelers Casualty and Surety Company of America ("Travelers") related to a mechanics lien.¹ (R. p. 44). On April 9, 2007, DIRD filed its answer and counterclaims, alleging *inter alia* negligence as against AC for faulty workmanship. (R. p. 59). Travelers filed its

¹ Travelers was named as the bonding company used by DIRD with regard to the mechanics lien.

Answer and Counterclaim on November 1, 2007. (R. p. 67). On September 18, 2008, Geoffrey Cipkala and Samuel Agee, owners of a unit at the Oaks, brought suit (CA No. 2008-CP-08-02714) against DIRD, Carriage Hill Associates of Charleston, LLC (“CHAC”), and Carriage Hill Associates, Inc. (“CHNY”) alleging *inter alia* negligence and breach of warranty.² That Complaint was amended on December 11, 2008. DIRD, CHAC, and CHNY filed Answers on February 20, 2009. (R. pp. 105, 115, 125). On January 20, 2009, the Oaks at Rivers Edge Property Owners Association, Inc. (“POA”),³ and other unit owners, Bobby Reece, Joe Chiovarou, and William Jung, moved to intervene in CA No. 08-CP-08-2714. (R. p. 72). Thereafter, the POA, Reece, Chiovarou, and Jung filed a declaratory judgment action (CA No. 2009-CP-08-00453) against Cipkala and Agee with regard to the rights of the POA and individuals to bring suit. (R. p. 74). On March 11, 2009, the POA moved to consolidate CA No. 09-CP-08-453 and 08-CP-08-2714. (R. p. 146).

On February 16, 2009, DIRD and CHAC brought suit (CA No. 2009-CP-08-01068) against Weather Shield Manufacturing, Inc. (“WS”), The Muhler Company, Inc. (“Muhler”) and AC, alleging *inter alia* breach of contract, breach of warranties, and negligence. (R. p. 132). WS, Muhler, and AC each answered the Complaint in May 2009. (R. pp. 148, 162, 175).

On December 3, 2009, the POA, Chiovarou, Reece, Jung, and Joseph Moran⁴ brought suit (CA No. 2009-CP-08-03916, or “the POA Suit”) against DIRD, CHAC,

² Cipkala and Agee also sought class certification on behalf of the other unit owners.

³ Any references to the “Homeowners Association” or “HOA” in the Record on Appeal should be treated as references to the POA as they are the same entity.

⁴ Hereinafter, unless otherwise specified, the individual unit owners will be referred to as “Unit Owners.”

CHNY, WS, Muhler, AC, and Coastal Roofing, Co., Inc. ("Coastal") alleging myriad contract and tort claims relating to the construction of the Oaks. (R. p. 188). Subsequent thereto, the named Defendants answered said Complaint and various cross-claims were alleged as among the defendant parties. On April 12, 2010, by Order of the Honorable R. Markley Dennis, Jr., Civil Action Numbers 09-CP-08-1068; 09-CP-08-1413; 08-CP-08-2714; and 08-CP-08-3916 were consolidated. On May 5, 2010, the POA and the Unit Owners filed their First Amended Complaint, adding additional Unit Owners as Plaintiffs to the POA Suit.⁵ (R. p. 213). Various Defendants to the POA Suit answered and cross-claimed. On December 20, 2010, the POA Suit Plaintiffs filed a Third Amended Summons and Complaint, adding Unit Owners Matthew Severance and Ashley Severance as Plaintiffs, naming additional Defendants Coastal Caulking, Inc. ("Coastal Caulk"), Mike Phillips d/b/a Mike Phillips Masonry ("Mason"), Gerald Rumplick and Edward D'Orazio (collectively, the "Architects") and Rich Behringer, and asserting additional causes of action. (R. p. 239). On May 11, 2012, Muhler brought a third-party complaint against Castle Siding, Inc. ("Castle") and CAOBA Doors ("Caoba"). On June 6, 2012, the POA Suit Plaintiffs filed a Fourth Amended Summons and Complaint, asserting additional factual allegations and causes of action. (R. p. 277). The POA Suit Defendants answered and cross-claimed among the various Defendants.

⁵ The additional Unit Owners were: John E. Atkinson; Joan D. Strandquist; Peyton H. Cook, Jr.; Brenda Cook; John W. Edelen; Karen A. Nelson; Robert J. Graham; Maureen S. Graham; Kevin O. Hux; Nancy K. Johnson, as trustee for the Nancy K. Johnson Revocable Trust; Charles Maraziti; Patricia Mariziti; Donna Dee Moran; George S. Pollard; Gerard M. Ruvo and Sue S. Ruvo, as trustees for the Ruvo 2006 living trust; Robert Farina; Mary Ann Farina; Carolyn M. Jennings; Thomas Edward Keane; Edward Wallace Barr, III; Richard B. Pekruhn; Pauline Pekruhn; Gregory B. Nathan and Richard Jennings.

Various parties filed Motions for Summary Judgment and both substantive and procedural Motions in Limine in anticipation of trial, scheduled for April 8, 2013. Prior to the commencement of trial, a certain number of the parties to the case entered into settlement. (R. p. 612, lines 12-19). As a result of full settlement, Unit Owners Moran, Hux, Nathan and Jennings, and Farina were dismissed as Unit Owner Plaintiffs, as memorialized in the Order Memorializing Settlement filed March 26, 2013. Unit Owner Plaintiffs Cipkala and Agee settled their full claim and were also dismissed as Plaintiffs. The POA reached a partial settlement pre-trial for \$7,702,552.00.⁶ (R. p. 1803, line 9; R. p. 1610).

The POA and remaining Unit Owners proceeded with their claims against DIRD and CHAC. For purposes of trial, the parties were realigned, with the POA and remaining Unit Owners as Plaintiffs. A non-jury trial before the Honorable J.C. Nicholson, Jr., commenced on April 8, 2013. (R. p. 566). At the conclusion of the trial, the Court below granted leave to the parties to file motions and memoranda of law. (R. p. 1606, lines 23-25). The POA filed a Motion for Directed Verdict; DIRD and CHAC filed respective motions for directed verdict and a memorandum as to the damages claimed in the case in chief. (R. p. 1609)

The trial court entered judgment on October 25, 2013, in favor of Plaintiffs and against DIRD and CHAC as to all claimed causes of action.⁷ (R. pp. 1-40). Thereafter, DIRD and CHAC filed post-trial motions, to wit: Motion for Set-Off (with regard to the

⁶ As a result of the settlement, WS, Muhler, AC, Travelers, CHNY, Coastal Roofing, Coastal Caulking, Rumplick, D'Orazio and Rich Behringer were dismissed as parties, as set forth in the Stipulation of Dismissal filed July 10, 2013. (R. p. 551).

⁷ The trial court entered Plaintiff's Proposed Order as drafted by Plaintiffs; the trial court struck "Proposed" from the caption of the Order by Form 4 entered November 4, 2013. (R. p. 41).

settlement proceeds previously negotiated by Plaintiffs); Motion for Allocation of Damages; Motion for Order Requiring Election of Remedies; Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict, for New Trial Absolute for New Trial Nisi Remittitur, to Amend or Alter the Judgment, and for Relief From Order. (R. pp. 1661, 1666, 1672, 1677). A hearing was held on the post-trial motions on May 23, 2014. (R. p. 1794). After hearing the outstanding Motions, the trial court denied all of DIRD's and CHAC's motions by Order entered October 7, 2014. (R. p. 42). DIRD and CHAC filed the Notice of Appeal on November 4, 2014.

FACTS

This matter arises from the construction of a condominium project known as The Oaks at Rivers Edge. The Oaks at Rivers Edge is a horizontal property regime located on Daniel Island and comprised of six (6) buildings, with six (6) residential units in each building. (R. p. 654, line 17 – R. p. 655 line 3). Each building is actually four stories, with the first “floor” being parking and 2 units on each subsequent floor. The salient Common Areas as defined in the Master Deed include the windows, doors, and the area between the finished floors and ceilings between each unit.⁸ The Oaks was constructed over a period from 2003 through 2006. (R. p. 1800, lines 10-12). DIRD was the developer of the Oaks, and contracted with CHAC to be the construction manager for the project. (R. p. 1800, lines 12-15). The units were sold by DIRD for an approximate average amount of \$650,000.00, although several unit owners paid substantially more for their units as they purchased their units or contracts from intermediate third party

⁸ The Master Deed of The Oaks at River's Edge Horizontal property Regime is a matter of public record, and was recorded on January 10, 2006, in Book 5287 at page 28 in the ROD Office for Berkeley County, South Carolina.

speculators. The purchases of the units from DIRD were consummated primarily in 2006 and the Board of the POA was turned over to the homeowners in December 2006. (R. p. 682, line 23 - R. p. 683, line 6).

The Oaks buildings contain a large number of windows, including fixed units which appear to be French doors. All of the windows on the Project were manufactured by WS, and purchased through Muhler. (R. p. 133, Paragraph 8). While the Project was ongoing, AC, retained to frame the buildings and install the windows, failed to properly install the windows. (R. p. 134, Paragraph 11). Muhler was instrumental in completing the installation of windows, as well as in assisting with the installation through the pendency of the Project. (R. p. 135).

Subsequent to the turnover of the POA to the homeowners, issues arose relating to sound transmission on the second and third floors from the above units. DIRD and CHAC undertook remediation efforts to resolve the problem, which both Plaintiff and Defendant expert sound engineers testified had been resolved to building code and to the best result possible. (R. pp. 1418-1421; R. p. 802, line 21- R. p. 803, line 19; R. p. 2496).

Issues also arose with regard to the windows and doors. Initially it was believed the issues with the windows arose as a result of WS's failure to properly assemble the windows by failing to glaze the window panes that were installed and by improperly nailing the mullions holding the glass such that the nails contacted the glass. As a result water infiltrated through the windows and many of glass panes cracked due to vibration. For a period of time CHAC was able to work with Muhler and WS to resolve this initial problem. In 2007, it became apparent that the windows and doors were leaking as a result of issues other than the initial problem. CHAC continued to work with the POA

and attempted to work with Muhler and WS to resolve these newly discovered issues. It became apparent through inspection and time that the French door units and other windows in the Project had large gaps both behind the factory-installed brick mold and within the window housing unit itself. Significant damage to the buildings resulted from these issues due to water intrusion. Because WS and Muhler refused to accept culpability for the issues, DIRD and CHAC were forced to bring suit against those contractors and AC, in order to address the POA and Unit Owner concerns and attempt to address the remediation necessary. (R. p. 132).

Multiple lawsuits were brought arising from the project, as more fully set forth in the Statement of the Case. As part of the litigation, in February 2011, the POA produced an estimate from Southeastern Construction for \$11,807,884.00 to repair the six buildings, which repair estimate was proffered to the trial court. (R. p. 738, lines 2-19; R. p. 1877). Prior to the scheduled date of trial, several settlements occurred among and between the various parties. The total settlement amount paid to the POA was \$7,702,552.00. (R. p. 1803). Of that amount, \$3,700,000.00 was paid by CHAC, DIRD, Carriage Hill Associates, Inc., the architects on the project Rumplick and D'Orazio, and Behringer. (R. p. 1611). The other \$4,002,552.00 was paid by Weather Shield, Muhler, AC Construction, and Coastal Caulking (R. p. 1611).⁹

At trial, DIRD and CHAC's expert testified that the removal of the bricks and stucco was due to water intrusion caused by defective windows and doors. (R. p. 1547,

⁹ Additional settlement amounts were paid to certain Unit Owners for full settlement of their individual claims prior to trial. These included: Moran, Hux, Nathan and Jennings and Farina, as well as Cipkala and Agee.

lines 10-25; R. p. 1571, lines 2-3). He further testified there was no evidence of the stucco contributing to the water intrusion. (R. p. 1556, lines 21 – R. p. 1557, line 3).

Numerous Unit Owners testified that they did not reside in their respective units. (R. p. 832, lines 12-13; R. p. 837, lines 2-3; R. p. 862, lines 15-16; R. p. 878, lines 23-24; R. p. 880, lines 8-11; R. p. 894, lines 17-19; R. p. 975, lines 7-9; R. p. 1098, lines 3-8; R. p. 1120, lines 22-25; R. p. 1136, lines 8-10, 23-25; R. p. 1150, lines 19-20; R. p. 1176, lines 10-15; R. p. 1207, lines 14-15). Those with tenants testified they were renting their respective units for between \$1,500.00 and \$3,000.00 per month. (R. p. 835, line 21; R. p. 852, line 18; R. p. 853, line 7; R. p. 874, lines 9-15; R. p. 985, line 2; R. p. 1138; line 1; R. p. 1208, line 25). The POA and Unit Owners' expert testified if the problems were repaired then there would be no loss of value of the individual units. (R. p. 1278, lines 8-18).

After a bench trial, the trial court awarded judgment against DIRD and CHAC as to all remaining causes of action alleged: negligence, gross negligence, and negligent misrepresentation. (R. p. 32). Additionally, the trial court found DIRD liable for breach of fiduciary duty and breach of implied warranty of habitability, and CHAC liable for breach of implied warranty of workmanlike service. (R. p. 32). The POA was awarded judgment in the amount of \$9,389,134.47, while the remaining Unit Owner Plaintiffs received awards from \$374,825.00 to \$468,265.00, for a total judgment amount rendered of \$15,743,753.79. (R. pp. 32-35). The calculation of damages did not differentiate as to the Unit Owners who owned fourth floor units nor did it differentiate as to those Unit Owners who did not use their units as full-time residences (R. pp. 33-35).

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO SET-OFF FROM THE TOTAL VERDICT THE AMOUNT PREVIOUSLY RECEIVED BY THE POA AND UNIT OWNERS THROUGH SETTLEMENT.

The trial court failed to consider any prior settlement monies received by the Unit Owners and POA and instead found CHAC and DIRD liable for the full amount, including amounts which the owners and POA received for defects from the defendants prior to trial. S.C. Code § 15-38-50 states, “[w]hen a release or a covenant not to sue or not to enforce judgment is given in good faith to one of two or more persons liable in tort for the same injury[,]. . . it reduces the claim against the others to the extent of any amount stipulated by the release or the covenant, or in the amount of the consideration paid for it, whichever is the greater” A set-off is mandated by statute and is not within the Court’s discretion. See Ellis v. Ellis, 335 S.C. 106, 112, 515 S.E.2d 268, 271 (Ct.App. 1999); Vortex Sports & Entertainment, Inc.. v. Ware, 378 S.C 197, 209, 662 S.E.2d 444,451 (Ct.App. 2008); see also Smith v. Widener, 297 S.C. 468, 473, 724, S.E.2d 188, 191 (Ct. App. 2012) (“[W]hen a prior settlement involves compensation for the same injury for which the jury awarded damages, the right to setoff arises as an operation of law.”). Prior to trial, numerous defendants paid or agreed to pay the POA and Unit Owners in a confidential mutual settlement agreement for \$7,702,552.00 (R. p. 1803, lines 9-16). This settlement amount included significant contributions from CHAC and DIRD, as well as Carriage Hill Associates, Inc., and individuals who had performed services for the Oaks project, Rumplick, D’Orazio, and Behringer. The trial court failed to take into consideration any prior settlements and instead awarded the POA and Unit Owners an amount which included damages the POA and Unit Owners had previously

received from the defendants. Accordingly, the trial court's order should be reversed and a new trial granted to account for the failure to set-off the verdict against the prior settlement amounts.

By way of example, the cost of repair included damages for replacement of windows and doors, brickwork, and damage to sheathing caused by water intrusion, along with general and administrative costs, overhead, and profit attributable to such work, among other items, all of which were part of the responsibility of the window manufacturer, installers, and framers at the project. (R. p. 12). "[T]here can be only one satisfaction for an injury or wrong." Hawkins v. Pathology Assocs. of Greenville, P.A., 330 S.C. 92, 113, 498 S.E.2d 395, 407 (Ct.App. 1998) (internal quotation marks omitted). A settlement by a joint tortfeasor "reduces the claim against the others to the extent of any amount stipulated by the release or the covenant." S.C. Code Ann. § 15-38-50(1) (2005). Therefore, before entering judgment on a jury verdict, the court must reduce the amount of the verdict to account for any funds previously paid by a settling defendant, so long as the settlement funds were paid to compensate the same plaintiff on a claim for the same injury. Hawkins, 330 S.C. at 113, 498 S.E.2d at 406-07. "When the settlement is for the same injury, the nonsettling defendant's right to a setoff arises by operation of law." Widener, 297 S.C. at 472, 724 S.E.2d at 190.

In the order entering judgment against both CHAC and DIRD, the trial court awarded the following amounts in favor of the POA and the Unit Owners:

POA	\$9,389,134.47
Atkinson/Strandquist	\$416,625.00
Chiovarou	\$422,721.80
Barr/Keene	\$422,721.80
Cook	\$388,250.00
Edelen/Nelson	\$446,625.00

Graham	\$453,633.00
Jennings	\$468,265.00
Johnson	\$395,750.00
Jung	\$418,512.92
Maraziti	\$422,721.80
Pekruhn	\$374,825.00
Pollard	\$425,896.80
Reece	\$451,625.00
Ruvo	\$422,742.00
Severance	\$423,704.20 ¹⁰

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