THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM BERKELEY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable J. C. Nicholson, Jr.
Trial Court Case No.: 20089-CP-08-01068, 2009-CP-08-03916,
2009-CP-08-01413, 2008-CP-08-02714

RECEIVED
MAY 08 2015
SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2014-002390

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

LEGAL ARGUMENT

- I. The Trial Judge was correct in denying the Appellants' S.C. Code Ann. Section 15-38-50 motion to set off amounts received by the Respondents in prior settlements because the plain language of S.C. Code Ann. Section 15-38-50 does not allow for a set off and the Appellants had already received the benefit of the settlements prior to the trial of the action.**

There were two settlements prior to the trial of this action and prior to the judgment against the Appellants. The Appellants were parties to the settlements and have already received the benefits from both settlements, and, thus, are not entitled to a set-off.

First, the Oaks POA and the Individual Unit Owners settled and granted a release to various defendants (the "Window Defendant Settlement"). *See* Exhibits P-1 through P-

4 from the Post-Trial Motions Hearing⁴.

Importantly, the Window Defendant Settlement resulted in the Oaks POA **removing from their claim**, ultimately claimed and presented as evidence at trial, the repair scope necessitated by the claims against the window defendants. The amount of damages removed from the claim was \$4,260,498.00 (**Compare** Exhibit 180 [the repair estimate actually claimed at trial + 10% engineering cost = \$8,728,174.00] **with** Exhibit 49 [the repair estimate not claimed at trial⁵ including the window damages + 10% engineering fees = \$12,988,672.40]). *See* (R. pp. 2432-2450, Plaintiffs' Exhibit 180). *See also* (R. pp. 1877-1897, Plaintiffs' Exhibit 49). Therefore, the amount of damages removed from the claim actually exceeded the amount of the settlement with the window defendants. *See* Exhibits P-1 through P-4 from the Post-Trial Motions Hearing. As the developer and the construction manager, the Appellants would have been legally liable for those damages had they been presented. Appellants are necessarily not entitled to a set-off in the amount paid by the window defendants because they have already received the benefit of the removal of those claims from the amount claimed at trial. Indeed, the removal of the items from the scope actually gave Appellants **more** value. Moreover, Appellants were parties to the Window Defendant Settlement and received full releases from the window defendants in the settlement. Therefore, Appellants also received the benefit of a release from cross-claims for indemnification and for claims for monetary damages from the window defendants. To set-off damages that were removed from the

⁴ Appellants have moved to file these documents, included in the Respondent's Designation of Matter, under seal with this Court.

⁵ It is worth noting that the Appellants do not even list Exhibit 180, the actual estimate claimed at trial by the Oaks POA, in their Designation of Matter to be Included in Record on Appeal. Instead, the Appellants only list Exhibit 49—the estimate that was not claimed as damages at trial.

claim of the Oaks POA at trial with the full knowledge of the Appellants and the Trial Court would have been error. Appellants are simply not entitled to a set-off of the Window Defendant Settlement as they have already received the “reduction” contemplated by Section 15-38-50. In fact, they have received even more of a benefit.

With regard to the second settlement, Appellants were also parties to that settlement. Only a non-settling party may be entitled to a set-off. *See Smith v. Widener*, 397 S.C. 468, 724 S.E.2d 188 (Ct.App. 2012)(a “nonsettling” defendant may be entitled to a setoff); *accord Smalls v. South Carolina Dept. of Educ.*, 339 S.C. 208, 528 S.E.2d 682 (Ct.App. 2000)(“nonsettling” tortfeasor may be entitled to setoff); *Vaughn v. City of Anderson*, 300 S.C. 55, 386 S.E.2d 297 (Ct.App. 1989); *Powers v. Temple*, 250 S.C. 149, 156 S.E.2d 759 (1967); *Welch v. Epstein*, 342 S.C. 279, 312-13, 536 S.E.2d 408, 425-26 (Ct.App. 2000). Indeed, Section 15-38-50 of the South Carolina Code expressly states that a party claiming setoff must not be a party to the settlement and release as it states that a setoff is only applicable when a release is given “to one of two or more persons liable in tort for the same injury...” (Emphasis supplied). Moreover, and perhaps most importantly, Oaks POA and Individual Unit Owners released the Appellants in the second settlement for entire causes of action including fraud, unfair trade practices, punitive damages, breach of contract accompanied by a fraudulent act, aiding and abetting, amalgamation and any damages, attorneys’ fees, and trebling that was associated with such causes of action, as well as waived their right to a jury trial. *See* Exhibits P-1 through P-4 from the Post-Trial Motions Hearing. The language of the second settlement release is clear that the Appellants received the benefit of the Oaks POA and Individual Unit Owners release of those certain causes of action against them.

See DAR Metal Works, Inc. v. SIR Machinery Repair, Inc., 288 S.C. 347, 342 S.E.2d 610 (Ct.App. 1986)(when the language of a settlement or release is clear the Court is without authority to alter its terms). As a result of the partial release of the Appellants, the Oaks POA and the Individual Unit Owners did not present those specific causes of action against the Appellants at the trial of this case. The Appellants paid money and received a release that was a great benefit to them. The Appellants assertion of a set-off for a release and payment from which they already received a benefit amounts to a double set-off that has no basis in law. The benefit of the second settlement is further highlighted by the Trial Court's statement at the post trial motion hearing that absent the release for the fraud type claims, the Court may have found the Appellants liable for fraudulent conduct. The Trial Court stated as follows:

The Court: Let me put this on the record. Okay? And I don't think this language is in the order, but I may modify the order. Let me state my assessment of the whole situation.

Mr. Maybank: Thank you, Your Honor.

The Court: We've got somebody that comes in, puts up this property, does a shoddy job, doesn't even comply with the building codes on building this building, period. Didn't even attach the brick to the—

Mr. Maybank: There's evidence—we put photographs in that show---

The Court: I understand. But don't comply, and then they come in and then glorify and glamorize it inside. So when you walk in and you look at your nice floors, you look at your granite countertops, so it looks like a fantastic place, but the bones of the construction were shoddy. That's what got my attention, to be perfectly honest with you. **And it was almost to the point of committing a fraud on the public coming in a marketing it that way.** In another words, you come in, you glamorize the internal part of the condo, and somebody walks in and says, man, this is really a nice place. But you can't see internally where all the—I don't want to say rot, but the inadequate construction was done. **It was almost, in the**

Court's opinion, fraudulent. I just want to put that on the record. That's not in my order. I may put it in there.

See (R. pp. 1818-1819, Transcript of Hearing on Post Trial Motions). (emphasis supplied). In response to the Court's statement on the record regarding the fraudulent conduct of the Appellants, Counsel for the Appellants affirmatively sought the protections of the second settlement and release and stated as follows:

Mr. Maybank: Your Honor, just so the record—I think the record is pretty complete on this. This is Plaintiff's Exhibit 3 [to the post-trial motions] that we have put into the record as being marked confidential. It is the memorandum of settlement. Contained within the memorandum of settlement on page 5, Your Honor—

The Court: Yes, sir.

Mr. Maybank: --the first paragraph says: As to the HOA's and the unit owners' claims against DIRD and CHAC, one of the HOA individual unit owners [sic] will dismiss with prejudice claims against DIRD and CHAC only for—and then we have—piercing, fraud, individual liability, amalgamation, aiding and abetting, aiding and abetting breach of fiduciary duty, and breach of contract accompanied by a fraudulent act. The HOA and the individual unit owners agree not to seek punitive damages or attorneys' fees arising out of any cause of action against DIRD and CHAC [****]
But we just wanted to make sure that we understood which causes of action that the plaintiffs were actually going under so that this Court doesn't put into any order or to any findings those which were not contemplated to be heard or dealt with at trial.

See (R. pp. 1833-1835, Transcript of Hearing on Post Trial Motions). The Trial Court's statement on the record and the response of Appellants completely defeat the current position of the Appellants regarding set-off. The Oaks POA and the Individual Unit Owners, in consideration for the second settlement amount, released a valid fraud/unfair trade practices act/attorneys' fees/punitive damages claim(s) and the Appellants received the benefit of such a release.

In sum, Appellants have already received the bargained benefit from the first and second settlements to which they were parties. The Respondents did not claim the damages sought in the Window Defendant Settlement in the trial of the case against the Appellants. The Respondents released Appellants for certain causes of action and damages that they did not present at trial as a result of the second settlement. The Appellants simply improperly seek a set-off for amounts they have already received the benefit of from the Respondents. They are not entitled to a set-off which would amount to a double benefit. As such, it is fundamental that the Trial Court did not award damages to the Respondents for the same injuries/damages that the Oaks POA and Individual Unit Owners received in settlement.

II. The Trial Judge was correct in denying the Appellants' S.C. Code Ann. Section 15-38-15 Motion to allocate and apportion damages between settling defendants and the Appellants because no such allocation was required pursuant to the plain language of S.C. Code Ann. Section 15-38-15.

The Appellants argue that they are “entitled to a special verdict allocating the damages suffered by the Plaintiffs” between other parties pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. Section 15-38-15. Appellants are not entitled to any allocation pursuant to the plain terms of Section 15-38-15. Subsection (F) of 15-38-15 clearly states as follows:

“This section does not apply to a defendant whose conduct is determined to be willful, wanton, reckless, grossly negligent, or intentional.” (emphasis supplied). In this case, both of the Appellants were adjudged by the Court to have been grossly negligent. *See* (R. p. 20, Paragraph 63 of the Order filed October 25, 2014). This finding has not been appealed. For this reason alone, any potential allocation under Section 15-38-15 would simply not apply. Moreover, there is no evidence that Appellants (which can be

treated as one party pursuant to Section 15-38-15(C)(3)(a) were less than 50% at fault as they were the developer and construction manager for the entire project.⁶ Therefore, no allocation is necessary under Section 15-38-15(A). Indeed, Appellants would have been responsible for putting in any evidence of degree or percentages of fault during the trial. See S.C. Code Ann. Section 15-38-15(C)(3)(B). No such evidence was submitted. Pursuant to the plain and express language of the statute under which Appellants contend they were entitled to allocation, it is clear that the Appellants are not entitled to any allocation.

III. The Trial Judge was correct in denying the Appellants' S.C. Code Ann. Section 15-38-15 Motion to require the Respondents to elect between remedies and damages awarded at trial because no election of remedies was required based upon the clear evidence presented and the plain language of S.C. Code Ann. Section 15-38-15.

With regard to election of remedies, the Appellants first argue that the doctrine of election of remedies required the Respondents to elect between certain causes of action prior to the entry of the judgment to avoid a "double recovery." However, in this case, while the Oaks POA and the Individual Unit Owners were awarded damages pursuant to

⁶ DIRD and CHAC owed Oaks POA and the Individual Unit Owners legal duties to develop, construct and sell a project consistent with industry standards and the applicable building code. See Kennedy v. Columbia Lumber and Mfg. Co., Inc., 299 S.C. 335, 384 S.E.2d 730 (1989)(establishing common law duties to purchasers of residences regardless of privity). DIRD and CHAC also had the duty to exercise due care during the development and construction of the project. See Fields v. J. Haynes Waters Builders, Inc., 376 S.C. 545, 560 S.E.2d 80, 88 (2008)(a builder owes a duty to exercise due care); Hart v. Doe, 261 S.C. 116, 122, 198 S.E.2d 526, 529 (1973); ("[N]egligence is the failure to use due care," i.e., "that degree of care which a person of ordinary prudence and reason would exercise under the same circumstances."). DIRD undertook to develop the project. DIRD put the residential project and units in the stream of commerce. DIRD also undertook to establish the Oaks POA, an entity which would be responsible for the future repair and maintenance of the common elements. Therefore, there is substantial evidence that DIRD and CHAC undertook legal duties to the Oaks POA and the Individual Unit Owners and that all of the damages claimed by the Oaks POA and Individual Unit Owners and awarded by the Trial Court were proximately caused by the breach of the legal duties owed to the Respondents by the Appellants. Indeed, any discussion of set-off or allocation, notwithstanding that the Appellants are entitled to neither, necessarily begins with the admission by the party seeking allocation that it is liable along with others for the same injury. Otherwise, the argument would simply be that there is no evidence to support liability in the first instance. The latter position is not taken by the Appellants in this appeal.

different causes of action, there is simply no evidence that the Oaks POA and the Individual Unit Owners received “double damages” for the same injury. The Trial Court’s order is clear that while the Oaks POA and Individual Unit Owners prevailed on different causes of action, only one amount of damages was awarded to each of the Plaintiffs. For example, there was simply no award of the same damages on the negligence cause of action and the award of the same damages on a breach of implied warranty causes of action. There was no double recovery that would give rise to an election of remedies.

The Appellants next argue, with regard to election of remedies, that the award of damages for the cost of repair to the Oaks POA and the award of damages to the Individual Unit Owners for loss of market access amounts to a double recovery. This is simply not the case. The premise upon which the Appellants base their argument as to double recovery is flawed. Appellants mistakenly assert that when the buildings are repaired, the full value of the units will return to the Individual Unit Owners as that value was established between 2008 and 2011. In a typical case, it may be true that a repaired condominium has its value restored. However, on the undisputed facts of this case, the theory of damages put forth in evidence was that the Individual Unit Owners were denied market access during a time in which the Appellants knew that the buildings needed to be repaired and refused to do so. Therefore, even if the buildings are fully repaired by the damages awarded to the Oaks POA, the Individual Unit Owners will not be made whole because of the unique factual situation present in this case. The Court found in its Order, in pertinent part, as follows:

(66) I find that the individual Unit Owners presented damages as depicted on Exhibit A and Exhibit B to this Order. I find that the damages presented by the Individual Unit

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